

The train of autoimmunity

Dr. Anna Huysse

Contents

Summary	3
Introduction	5
Autoimmune diseases	5
Causes	5
Hashimoto thyroiditis	7
Subclinical Hashimoto thyroiditis	7
Challenges	8
What makes it difficult to detect Hashimoto thyroiditis at early s	tage?8
What is the normal upper limit of reference range of TSH?	9
Common autoimmune disorders tend to coexist in the same su families	bjects and cluster in 9
Psychiatric symptoms as a sign of autoimmunity storm?	9
Affective disorders: depression, anxiety and bipolar disorder	
Non-affective disorders	
Treatments as usual are not the best choice	
Wait and see approach of subclinical cases	
A missing link: Conditioned stress reactivity response	
Brain changes	
Hormonal changes	
What if there is a way to help?	
Conclusions & questions	14
Discussion	15
References	
Contact information	Error! Bookmark not defined.

Summary

Autoimmune diseases are a major health problem worldwide. In autoimmune disease the tolerance of the immune system against self-determinants is lost and the immune system causes damage to certain tissues or organs. Disease is often only recognized when advanced damage to tissues has occurred. Treatment of autoimmune diseases is based on anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive drugs and there is a need to recognize and intervene early in the onset of disease.

The focus of this paper is (subclinical) Hashimoto thyroiditis. The most important implication of subclinical hypothyroidism is high likelihood of progression to clinical hypothyroidism. Subclinical Hashimoto's (Incidence 4-6% in the general population) are facing serious and nonspecific health issues over a period of 7-10 years. They are at risk to develop coronary heart disease, psychiatric disorders, other autoimmune diseases and they experience pregnancy problems.

In daily practice, health complaints can precede formal diagnosis: dysregulated thyroid hormone balance and the presence of anti-TPO and anti-TG auto antibodies in the circulation. This often leads to a 'wait and see' approach, with as a consequence returning visits to the medical professionals without further support to the patient. Early detection of subclinical Hashimoto's disease will be more successful when protocols are changed: concerning classification and treatment. Anti-thyroid autoantibodies measurement (against Thyroglobulin and Thyroid peroxidase) may be proper for patients with high-normal TSH to distinguish subclinical cases who are at risk of developing hypothyroidism. Though, in reality, anti-thyroid autoantibodies are not measured when the TSH values are in the normal range and there is still a discussion about the normal range, the upper limit of reference range of TSH.

Immune dysfunction may precede the onset of psychiatric disorders and go hand in hand with the development of Hashimoto's disease. Moreover, without optimal thyroid function (even very small fluctuations make a difference), mood disturbance, cognitive impairment and other psychiatric symptoms can occur. Thereby, treatments as usual are not the best choice for people with an autoimmune cause of their psychiatric complaints. Thyroid abnormalities are associated with a poorer response to standard treatments for mood disorders. Subjects with lower thyroid function, even within the normal range, have a poorer response to initial treatment with hormonal replacement therapy. Diagnosing on time subclinical cases with slight hypothyroidism and properly treating them is essential in order to slow down the progression of the disease and in order to manage the risk of coronary heart disease, psychiatric disorders, and pregnancy problems.

Do you recognize these challenges? What if there is way to help subclinical Hashimoto's?

Introduction

For a century, humankind has been working on getting a clear understanding of the cause of autoimmune diseases and finding a treatment for them. Unfortunately no unambiguously answers have been found yet. Meanwhile the number of people suffering from autoimmune diseases are increasing.

If we want to get better results, we should start doing things differently.

This paper highlights the current challenges and offers an up-to-date multidisciplinary scientific review focusing on one autoimmune disease: Hashimoto thyroiditis. It offers strong rationale on why we should focus on subclinical cases and what the price will be if we don't.

After reading this paper, you will have an up-to-date and multidisciplinary knowledge concerning Hashimoto thyroiditis, and you will know better how to identify subclinical cases and you will have a solution to offer to the subclinical Hashimoto patients which is a surplus to the already used medical protocols.

Autoimmune diseases

The idea about the existence of autoimmune disease emerged a century ago [1]. Since then, over 100 autoimmune diseases have been defined. Autoimmune disease is characterized by an aberrant activation of the adaptive immune response with T and B lymphocytes responding to self-antigen [2].

No epidemiologic data are available for many of the autoimmune diseases. This makes it difficult to estimate precisely the prevalence and cost for all autoimmune diseases [3]. Though, studies show undoubtedly that autoimmune diseases cause significant and chronic morbidity and disability [4, 5]. In addition, over the last decades epidemiologists observed a steady rise in autoimmune disease throughout Western world [6, 7], with a compound annual growth rate increase in incidence of 5.57% [8].

Causes

Genetic factors play an important role in the etiology of autoimmune diseases. However, many of the latest research findings as well as the fast growing pace of the increase of autoimmune diseases, point out that it is unlikely that most of the rise can be assigned to an accumulation of genetic predispositions. This is indicating that environmental factors such as infections, vaccines, dietary components, toxic chemicals are important drivers of the growth of autoimmune diseases [9-11].

In addition to genetic and environmental factors, physiological factors such as hormonal and lifestyle factors may play a role in the development of autoimmune diseases. Thus, the etiology of autoimmune diseases may be multifactorial. The onset of at least 50% of autoimmune disorders is attributed to 'unknown trigger factors' [12].



Treatment

A century after the discovery of autoimmune diseases, there is still no cure for them. More knowledge is needed into the etiology and mechanisms of action for these diseases as well as the development of earlier interventions [9, 13]. The world autoimmunity expert, Dr. Noel Rose, makes use of the metaphor of the train of autoimmunity. He emphasises that if we want to be able to help find a way to treat autoimmune diseases, it is essential to step on the train at the beginning before the disease fully manifests itself.

In this paper, the focus is on the autoimmune disease Hashimoto's thyroiditis. While reading, you may see a resemblance and option for application of the provided information to other

autoimmune diseases. This is greatly due to the fact that: 1) all autoimmune diseases have a great deal in common; 2) it is those common traits that are the most fundamental; 3) autoimmune diseases tend to cluster. When having one autoimmune disease, patients are prone to get a second or a third one.

Hashimoto thyroiditis

Autoimmune diseases are broadly categorized in two groups: organ-specific and systemic. Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT) was firstly discovered in 1912 by Hakaru Hashimoto. Yet, its autoimmune aspect has been demonstrated later in the 1950s. Hashimoto's thyroiditis is an organ-specific autoimmune disorder, which is the most frequent cause of hypothyroidism and goiter. It is a chronic autoimmune inflammation of the thyroid gland. The diagnosis is suspected based on the detection of raised levels of circulating autoantibodies against thyroid peroxidase and thyroglobulin [14]. About 2 % of the general population is suffering from Hashimoto thyroiditis while 80 % of those are women, most often in one of the vulnerable periods: adolescence, pregnancy or pre-menopause. In the Netherlands, around 340 000 people suffer from Hashimoto thyroiditis.

Subclinical Hashimoto thyroiditis

The most important implication of subclinical hypothyroidism is high likelihood of progression to clinical hypothyroidism [15]. Subclinical hypothyroidism or mild thyroid failure is a common problem, with a prevalence of 3% to 8% in the patients without diagnosed thyroid disease [16, 17]. Subclinical patients are much more prone to coronary heart disease [29], psychiatric disorders [18], and pregnancy problems [19, 20]. The most common cause of elevated TSH is autoimmune thyroid disease and destruction of functional thyroid tissue. From those with subclinical hypothyroidism, 2-5 % per year will progress to overt hypothyroidism, defined as TSH >20 mIU/L or free T4 below the normal range [21, 22].

Subclinical Hashimoto thyroiditis patients have raised TSH level and normal level of serum thyroid hormones (T4). In most of the cases, increased autoantibodies are also present. Patients with subclinical hypothyroidism have a high rate of progression to clinically overt hypothyroidism: 2.6% each year if thyroid peroxidase (TPO) antibodies are absent and 4.3% if they are present [23].



Thus, anti-TPO measurement may be proper for patients with high-normal TSH to distinguish those at risk of developing hypothyroidism [24].

A well-timed diagnosis of subclinical cases with slight hypothyroidism and a proper treatment is essential in order to slow down the progression of the disease and in order to manage the risk of additional pathology such as coronary heart disease, psychiatric disorders, and pregnancy problems.

In terms of early pharmacological treatment, there is insufficient scientific support of the benefit for levothyroxine therapy in patients with subclinical hypothyroidism, in particular for the group with TSH less than 10 mIU/L [21]. Currently no additional (pharmacological) treatments are available in this phase of the disease.

Challenges

What makes it difficult to detect Hashimoto thyroiditis at early stage?

Subclinical Hashimoto thyroiditis is difficult to diagnose on time due to nonspecific symptoms at an early stage. Since autoantibodies are markers of disease activity, autoantibodies are often able to predict disease. This approach is especially promising for diseases with a long subclinical period, which can take as long as 10 years, a feature of many organ-specific autoimmune diseases, as Hashimoto thyroiditis [25, 26].

Though in practice, antibodies are not measured when the TSH values are in the normal range.

What is the normal upper limit of reference range of TSH?

There is still a discussion in the medical field about the normal range, upper limit of reference range of TSH [27]. Furthermore, there are differences between countries and even internal there are variances of what each laboratory is using as a normal range. But how to identify subclinical cases if there is still debate about what the reference range of the normal TSH concentrations should be?

A recent study shows that a significant increase in the prevalence of Hashimoto thyroiditis occurred among individuals with a TSH ranging between 2.6–2.9 mU/L and suggests this cut-off value of normal upper limit of TSH [28].

Common autoimmune disorders tend to coexist in the same subjects and cluster in families.

In some cases, autoimmune diseases tend to co-develop in individuals. Hashimoto's disease shows a noticeably higher clustering particularly with adrenal and B-cell autoimmunity [29]. An association of Hashimoto's thyroiditis with both organ specific and non-organ-specific autoimmune diseases has been observed: Addison's disease [30], Type 1 diabetes mellitus [31], pernicious anemia [32], celiac disease [33], multiple sclerosis in females [34], rheumatoid arthritis [35], and vitiligo [36].

It is a fact that Hashimoto's thyroiditis occurs in association with many other autoimmune disorders [36] and corresponding autoantibodies may be helpful in diagnosing these associated diseases. For patients at first presentation of autoimmune thyroid disease and/or displaying nonspecific symptoms, it is recommended to screen for other autoimmune diseases [36].

Psychiatric symptoms as a sign of autoimmunity storm?

Changes in immune activity can cause psychiatric disorders or can effect such disorders [37]. The fact that some psychiatric disorders have an autoimmunity origin is because the brain can be affected by various autoimmune processes and mediators. Immune dysfunction may precede the onset of psychiatric disorders and go hand in hand with the development of

multiaxial comorbidity, including suicidal behavior, metabolic, and autoimmune disorders [38]. Moreover, without optimal thyroid function (even very small fluctuations make a difference), mood disturbance, cognitive impairment and other psychiatric symptoms can occur [39, 40].

Affective disorders: depression, anxiety and bipolar disorder

Affective disorders often are associated with thyroid dysregulations [41, 42]. Furthermore, thyroid autoantibodies have been frequently assumed to play a role in some affective disorders [39]. *Depressive disorders* in patients with thyroiditis is independent of the thyroid function and indicates that not only mood but also *anxiety disorders* may be associated with Hashimoto disease [18, 43-45]. Evaluations in the postpartum target depression show an association with thyroid autoantibodies and not with thyroid function [46]. Thus, the autoimmunity plays an independent role in these complaints.

Furthermore, increasing evidence suggests that inflammation and immune dysregulation play an important role in the pathogenesis of *bipolar disorder* [47, 48]. Thyroid autoimmunity has been suggested to be an independent risk factor for bipolar disorder [49, 50]. Such thyroid abnormalities are seen as modulating bipolar disorder manifestation with implications on the its severity, prognosis, and outcome [51].

Non-affective disorders

Anti-thyroid autoantibodies are present in 9% of psychiatric patients with nonaffective disorders [52]. Thus, this association may not be specific for affective disorders per se. Some examples are: 1) the estimated significant relationship between fluctuations in anti-thyroid autoantibodies and psychotic and mood symptoms in people with *borderline personality disorder* [53]; 2) immune dysregulation is suggested to play an important etiological role also in *schizophrenia* and potentially driving neurodevelopmental pathways [54].

Treatments as usual are not the best choice

Current standard treatments may not be the best choice for people with psychiatric complaints with an autoimmune cause. Thyroid abnormalities are associated with a poorer response to standard treatments for mood disorders [55]. Subjects with lower thyroid function, even within the normal range, have a poorer response to initial treatment [55].

Drugs that treat depression by manipulating the neurotransmitter serotonin in the brain may also affect a patient's immune system [56]. This is caused by serotonin that is exchanged between key cells in the immune system and the fact that serotonin facilitates the activation of an immune response. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors drugs may restore a healthy immune function in people who are depressed and prone to infections. Though, the new research findings warn that they might also bolster immunity to such extent that an autoimmune disease is triggered [57, 58].

Lithium therapy is often used as treatment of bipolar disorder. Lithium administration is known to be associated with the development of thyroid dysfunction [59] as well as it also exerts an effect on the immune system [60]. By patients with initially high anti-thyroid antibodies, lithium leads to significantly fluctuating titres [61, 62].

Wait and see approach of subclinical cases

As already discussed, patients with subclinical hypothyroidism have a high rate of progression to clinically overt hypothyroidism. And if the subclinical Hashimoto's are not classified and treated for some other condition, most often due to lack of clear disease profile or lack of available evidence-based help for subclinical Hashimoto's, for a long period of time the wait and see approach takes place.

Have you ever considered that stress reactivity might be a missing link?

A missing link: Conditioned stress reactivity response

Physical and psychological distress play a role in the development of autoimmune disease as Hashimoto's thyroiditis [63]. Many studies confirm the effect of different stressors on the function of the immune system [9, 10]. In addition, many retrospective studies have shown that up to 80% of patients reported uncommon emotional stress before disease onset [64]. In addition to the fact that distress causes disease, the disease itself causes considerable distress in the patients, creating a vicious cycle.

The immune system plays a role in sensing external threats. But what happens when it has been programmed to stay in constant alert? And what are the factors that influence this programming?

A biological embedding model postulates that childhood stress gets 'programmed' into macrophages through epigenetic markings, posttranslational modifications, and tissue remodelling [65]. Distress is not just a cause of dramatic events. Distress ranges from emotional, behavioural, interpersonal, school and stress-related adjustment problems, to

more severe difficulties such as mental health problems, misbehaviour and criminal offending [66]. As a result of distress, cells are prone to excessive inflammatory signalling via exaggerated cytokine responses to challenges and decreased sensitivity to inhibitory hormonal signals. In addition to the other exposures and genetic predispositions, the inflammation causes pathogenic mechanisms which lead to chronic disease. This excessive inflammation tendency may be further increased via certain behavioural and hormonal responses. Childhood distress leads to the increase of the risk of substance abuse [67], obesity [68], mental conditions [69], sexually transmitted diseases [70], suicide attempts [71], and physical diseases as ischemic heart disease [72], autoimmune disorder later in life and shortening of the life span [73]. Though, early adverse experiences show to have detrimental effect on health independently of certain behaviours [74].

Observations about the effect of stress on the onset and course of autoimmune disorders show that the psychoneuroimmunology interactions are bi-directional [11]. There is evidence that brain-to-immune interactions are highly modulated by psychological factors which influence immunity and autoimmune disease [75]. Early adverse circumstances are shaping the developmental trajectories, particularly in the areas of stress reactivity and physical or mental health [76, 77].

Brain changes

Early childhood is an extremely delicate period in human development. During this period the brain, specifically the circuitry governing emotion, attention, self-control and stress, is formed by the interplay of the child's genes and experiences [78]. Childhood ill-treatment modifies the relationship of depression with hippocampal volume [79]. Childhood ill-treatment (emotional neglect, psychological, physical, sexual abuse) decreases hippocampal volume which is related to major depressive disorder.

The childhood adversities, even subtle forms of childhood stress (e.g. having a depressive parent) leads to changes in the brain in size and volume, altering the expression of the genes that control a stress hormone output, triggering an overactive inflammatory stress response and predisposing to adult disease [80]. Early life stress can induce multiple changes across the brain-gut axis that contribute to the susceptibility to develop stress-related disorders [81]. How the gut functions: digestion of food, presence of food sensitivities and/or allergies, and processing of stress may be a sign of earlier difficult life experiences. Recent study reports that people with altered microbiomes have differently shaped brains. The hypothesis is that it is probable that this relationship isn't unidirectional. The scientists

state that the signals the gut and its microbes get from the brain of someone with an early adverse event history may lead to lifelong changes in the gut microbiome [81].

Hormonal changes

The environment in which a person grows up has a considerable impact on the development of hormonal responses to stress [82]. Any imbalance to an organism's homeostasis produces a complex stress response that involves the coordinated activation of neuroendocrine and autonomic systems. The hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal (HPA) axis is important. It is triggered by stressors of various sources (physical, emotional, immunological, etc.) to provoke the systemic release of glucocorticoids [83].

HPA axis's development and maturation, also called the stress axis, is influenced by the safe environment people encounter as kids [37]. Adverse early experience has an continuous impact on the responses to stress, which is marked by an abnormal metabolism of thyroid hormones, which reprogams how the axis responds to stress later in life [10]. Early life trauma is associated with decreased peripheral levels of thyroid-hormone T3 in adolescents [84]. The quality of maternal care is associated with changes in the relationship between the precursor thyroid-hormone T4 and the more active T3. Good maternal care is associated with increased conversion of T4 to T3.

It is presumed that the stress-triggered neuroendocrine hormones lead to immune dysregulation, which ultimately results in autoimmune disease, by altering or amplifying cytokine production [85].

What if there is a way to help?

Stress is inevitable part of life and not bad per se [86]. When under stress, healthy individuals quickly respond, come back to the baseline and recover [87]. Stress can influence the immune system, either by stopping it responding to stress or by bringing an overstimulation and an exaggerated reaction, as it generally occurs with autoimmune diseases as Hashimoto's, where the stress response is not shut off [88].

While there is an agreement between medical professionals and patients that stress plays a role not only in the onset of many disease processes, but also in its exacerbation, there is no clinical research on particular protocols which may be helpful for subclinical autoimmune diseases such as subclinical Hashimoto's thyroiditis.

Different stress reactions should be discussed with autoimmune patients. In addition to the common triggers (e.g. infection, trauma), patients should be asked about psychological stress [8]. Furthermore, recent studies highlight the importance of taking personality features

and individual coping strategies into account when evaluating patients with Hashimoto thyroiditis [89]. By susceptible subclinical Hashimoto's thyroiditis patients, the treatment should include a psychoneuroimmunological approach and an intervention of reprogramming the stress-related immune imbalance. Furthermore, the exploration of interrelationship between stress and disease may lead to the identification of novel anti-inflammatory agents with clinical potential for use in treatment of autoimmune inflammatory diseases [90]. For patients with childhood adversities, the usual stress reduction techniques may not work. This is due to the fact that the secure attachment has been conditioned to the threat response. It is essential to spend time working with the multiple mind and strengthen the patient ego before starting with reprograming the body stress response. Emotions are changes in both body and brain states in response to different stimuli [91]. Physiological changes (e.g., muscle tone, heart rate, endocrine release, posture, facial expression, etc.) occur in the body and are relayed to the brain where they are transformed into an emotion. Over time, emotions and their corresponding bodily changes become associated with particular situations and their past outcomes. An emotional response is basically the antibody that reacts to an invading stimulus, that is selected by that stimulus.

Thus, consciousness and emotions as states of the body, in particular, the immune system.

With this in mind, the 'Reset your immune system' eHealth series has been developed. This series addresses the role of personality on the body's autoimmune reaction. A personality has three components: emotion, cognition, and behaviour, three training programs relate respectively to 'Hashimoto's heart', 'Hashimoto's head', and 'Hashimoto's gut'. 'Hashimoto's heart' guided online training is available for clinical testing for subclinical Hashimoto's with psychological symptoms and clinical Hashimoto's.

Conclusions & questions

Autoimmunity (AI)

- Autoimmune diseases represent a major and fast growing health problem
- Autoimmunity issues are often recognized late, when the damage is done
- We need to put emphasis on studying triggers, causes and cure
- Autoimmune diseases should be approached also as a family

Hashimoto thyroiditis (HT)

HT is an interesting and relevant member of the AI family

- We need to recognize and intervene HT early in the onset of disease ('step on the train early')
- Subclinical HT/hypothyroidism knows a high likelihood of progression
- Subclinical Hashimoto's are facing serious and nonspecific health issues
- No (pharmacological) treatments are available in the subclincial phase of the disease
- A long period of 'wait and see' leads to high costs for patient, society and health care system
- Early detection requires changes in cut off values and testing procedures
- If there is an indication for one autoimmune disease, the patient should be screened for others

Psychoneuroimmunology (PNI)

- Immune dysfunction often precedes the onset of psychiatric disorders or can
 effect such disorders
- Current standard treatments might not be helpful, or even can trigger an autoimmune storm
- Conditioned distress effects the onset and course of autoimmune disorders like
 HT
- This complex bi-directional relation should become integral part of treatment
- Autoimmune patients need to learn how to shut off stress responses
- Both subclinical and clinical cases can be trained. However, an early intervention increases the health benefits
- The PNI approach is focused on the reprogramming the stress-related immune imbalance

Discussion

Which of the conclusions of this white paper do you recognize from your daily practice? Are you open for discussion? What insights would you like to bring to the table? Are you interested to participate in the scientifically validation of this innovative protocol, in order to improve the life of your (Subclinical) Hashimoto's patients?

References

1. Mackay, I.R., Travels and travails of autoimmunity: A historical journey from discovery to rediscovery. Autoimmunity Reviews, 2010. **9**(5): p. A251-A258.

2. Davidson, A. and B. Diamond, The Autoimmune Diseases (Fifth Edition). Part 1: Immunologic Basis of Autoimmunity, 2014: p. 19-37.

3. The Cost Burden of Autoimmune Disease: The Latest Front in the War on Healthcare Spending. 2011, The American Autoimmune Related Diseases Association (AARDA)

4. Jacobson, D.L., et al., Epidemiology and Estimated Population Burden of Selected Autoimmune Diseases in the United States. Clinical Immunology and Immunopathology, 1997. **84**(3): p. 223-243.

5. Thomas, S., et al., Burden of Mortality Associated With Autoimmune Diseases Among Females in the United Kingdom. American Journal of Public Health, 2010. **100**(11): p. 2279-2287.

6. The World Incidence and Prevalence of Autoimmune Diseases is Increasing. International Journal of Celiac Disease, 2016. **3**(4): p. 151-155.

7. Lerner, A., P. Jeremias, and T. Matthias, The World Incidence and Prevalence of Autoimmune Diseases is Increasing. International Journal of Celiac Disease, 2016. **3**(4): p. 151-155.

8. BioPortfolio, Global Autoimmune Drugs Market 2016-2020.

9. Rose, N.R. and I.R. Mackay, The Autoimmune Diseases (Fifth Edition). Part 1: Immunologic Basis of Autoimmunity, 2014: p. 3-9.

10. Wiersinga, W.M., Clinical Relevance of Environmental Factors in the Pathogenesis of Autoimmune Thyroid Disease. Endocrinology and Metabolism, 2016. **31**(2): p. 213-222.

11. Rogers, M. and M. Fozdar, Psychoneuroimmunology of autoimmune disorders. Advances in Neuroimmunology, 1996. **6**(2): p. 169-177.

12. Stojanovich, L. and D. Marisavljevich, Stress as a trigger of autoimmune disease. Autoimmunity Reviews, 2008. **7**(3): p. 209-213.

13. Volpé, R., Auto-immunity in the endocrine system. Monographs on endocrinology ; v. 20; Monographs on endocrinology ; v. 20. 1981, Berlin ;: Springer-Verlag.

14. Pearce, E., A. Farwell, and L. Braverman, Thyroiditis. The New England Journal of Medicine, 2003. **348**: p. 2646-1655.

15. Fatourechi, V., Subclinical Hypothyroidism: An Update for Primary Care Physicians. Mayo Clinic Proceedings, 2009. **84**(1): p. 65-71.

16. Karmisholt, J., S. Andersen, and P. Laurberg, Variation in Thyroid Function Tests in Patients with Stable Untreated Subclinical Hypothyroidism. Thyroid, 2008. **18**(3): p. 303-308.

17. Hollowell, J., et al., Serum TSH, T4, and Thyroid Antibodies in the UnitedStates Population (1988 to 1994): National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III). The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 2002. **87**(2): p. 489–499.

18. Carta, M.G., et al., The link between thyroid autoimmunity (antithyroid peroxidase autoantibodies) with anxiety and mood disorders in the community: a field of interest for public health in the future. BMC Psychiatry, 2004. **4**(1): p. 1-5.

19. Bernardi, L.A.M.D., R.N.M.D. Cohen, and M.D.M.D.M.S. Stephenson, Impact of subclinical hypothyroidism in women with recurrent early pregnancy loss. Fertility and Sterility, 2013. **100**(5): p. 1326-1331.e1.

20. Chen, L. and R. Hu, Thyroid autoimmunity and miscarriage: a meta-analysis. Clinical Endocrinology, 2011. **74**(4): p. 513-519.

21. Surks, M.I., et al., Subclinical thyroid disease: Scientific review and guidelines for diagnosis and management. JAMA, 2004. **291**(2): p. 228-238.

22. Khandelwal, D. and N. Tandon, Overt and Subclinical Hypothyroidism. Drugs, 2012. **72**(1): p. 17-33.

23. Vanderpump, M.P., et al., The incidence of thyroid disorders in the community: a twenty-year follow-up of the Whickham Survey. Clin Endocrinol 1995. **43**(1): p. 55-68.

24. Zelaya, A., et al., Antithyroid Peroxidase Antibodies in Patients With High Normal Range Thyroid Stimulating Hormone. Clinical Research and Methods, 2010. **42**(2): p. 111-115.

25. Leslie, D., P. Lipsky, and A.L. Notkins, Autoantibodies as predictors of disease. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 2001. **108**(10): p. 1417-1422.

26. Kasagi, K., et al., Clinical Significance of Measurements of Antithyroid Antibodies in the Diagnosis of Hashimoto's Thyroiditis: comparison with Histological Findings. Thyroid, 2009. **6**(5): p. 445-450.

27. Li, Y., et al., Using Hashimoto thyroiditis as gold standard to determine the upper limit value of thyroid stimulating hormone in a Chinese cohort. BMC Endocrine Disorders, 2016. **16**(1): p. 57.

28. Michalopoulou, G., et al., High serum cholesterol levels in persons with 'high-normal' TSH levels: should one extend the definition of subclinical hypothyroidism? European Journal of Endocrinology, 1998. **138**(2): p. 141-145.

29. Wiebolt, J., et al., Clustering of additional autoimmunity behaves differently in Hashimoto's patients compared with Graves' patients. European Journal of Endocrinology, 2011. **164**(5): p. 789-794.

30. Abdullatif, H.D. and A.P. Ashraf, Reversible Subclinical Hypothyroidism in the Presence of Adrenal Insufficiency. ENDOCRINE PRACTICE, 2006. **12**(5): p. 572-575.

31. Völzke, H., et al., The spectrum of thyroid disorders in adult type 1 diabetes mellitus. Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews, 2007. **23**(3): p. 227-233.

32. Irvine, W.J., et al., Immunological Relationship Between Pernicious Anaemia And Thyroid Disease. The British Medical Journal, 1982. **2**(5302): p. 454-456.

33. Lerner, A., P. Jeremias, and T. Matthias, Gut-thyroid axis and celiac disease. Endocrine Connections, 2017. **6**(4): p. R52-R58.

34. Petek-Balci, B., V. Yayla, and F. Özer, Multiple Sclerosis and Hashimoto Thyroiditis: Two Cases. The Neurologist, 2005. **11**(5): p. 301.

35. Ahmad, J., H. Blumen, and C.E. Tagoe, Association of antithyroid peroxidase antibody with fibromyalgia in rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology International, 2015. **35**(8): p. 1415-1421.

36. Boelaert, K., et al., Prevalence and Relative Risk of Other Autoimmune Diseases in Subjects with Autoimmune Thyroid Disease. The American Journal of Medicine, 2010. **123**(2): p. 181e1-183.e9.

37. Introduction to psychoneuroimmunology, ed. J. Daruna. 2012: Elsevier.

38. Leboyer, M., et al., Is it time for immunopsychiatry in psychotic disorders? Psychopharmacology, 2016. **233**(9): p. 1651-1660.

39. Bauer, M., et al., The thyroid-brain interaction in thyroid disorders and mood disorders. Journal of Neuroendocrinology, 2008. **20**: p. 1101-1114.

40. Placidi, G.P.A., et al., Prevalence of Psychiatric Disorders in Thyroid Diseased Patients. Neuropsychobiology, 1998. **38**(4): p. 222-225.

41. Detlef Degner, et al., Affective Disorders Associated With Autoimmune Thyroiditis. The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences, 2001. **13**(4): p. 532-533.

42. Selcuk Aslan, S., et al., Psychiatric symptoms and diagnoses in thyroid disorders: a crosssectional study. International Journal of Psychiatry in Clinical Practice 2005. **9**(3): p. 187-192.

43. Carta, M.G., et al., A case control study on psychiatric disorders in Hashimoto disease and euthyroid goitre: not only depressive but also anxiety disorders are associated with thyroid autoimmunity. Clinical Practice and Epidemiology in Mental Health, 2005. **1**(1): p. 1-4.

44. Carta, M.G., et al., Association between panic disorder, major depressive disorder and celiac disease: a possible role of thyroid autoimmunity. Journal of psychosomatic research, 2002. **53**(3): p. 789-93.

45. Ayhan, M.G., et al., The prevalence of depression and anxiety disorders in patients with euthyroid Hashimoto's thyroiditis: a comparative study. General hospital psychiatry, 2013. **36**(1): p. 95-8.

46. Donne, M.L., S. Settineri, and S. Benvenga, Early pospartum alexithymia and risk for depression: Relationship with serum thyrotropin, free thyroid hormones and thyroid autoantibodies. Psychoneuroendocrinology, 2012. **37**(4): p. 519-533.

47. Moscavitch, S.-D., M. Szyper-Kravitz, and Y. Shoenfeld, Autoimmune pathology accounts for common manifestations in a wide range of neuro-psychiatric disorders: The olfactory and immune system interrelationship. Clinical Immunology, 2009. **130**(3): p. 235-243.

48. Rege, S. and S.J. Hodgkinson, Immune dysregulation and autoimmunity in bipolar disorder: Synthesis of the evidence and its clinical application. Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, 2013. **47**(12): p. 1136-1151.

49. Bocchetta, A., et al., Bipolar disorder and antithyroid antibodies: review and case series. International Journal of Bipolar Disorder, 2016. **4**(5): p. 1-18.

50. Barbuti, M., et al., Thyroid autoimmunity in bipolar disorder: A systematic review. Journal of Affective Disorders, 2017. **221**: p. 97-106.

51. Hendrick, V., L. Altshuler, and P. Whybrow, PSYCHONEUROENDOCRINOLOGY OF MOOD DISORDERS The Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Thyroid Axis. Psychiatric Clinics of North America, 1998. **21**(2): p. 277-292.

52. Haggerty, J.J., et al., The presence of antithyroid antibodies in patients with affective and nonaffective psychiatric disorders. Biological Psychiatry, 1990. **27**(1): p. 51-60.

53. Geracioti, T.D., et al., Antithyroid Antibody-Linked Symptoms in Borderline Personality Disorder. Endocrine, 2003. **21**(2): p. 153-158.

54. Margari, F., et al., Circulating anti-brain autoantibodies in schizophrenia and mood disorders. Psychiatry Research, 2015. **230**(2): p. 704-708.

55. Cole, D., et al., Slower Treatment Response in Bipolar Depression Predicted by Lower Pretreatment Thyroid Function. American Journal of Psychiatry, 2002. **159**(1): p. 116-121.

56. Leonard, B.E., The immune system, depression and the action of antidepressants. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry, 2001. **25**(4): p. 767-780.

57. Shattuck, E.C., The dilemma of immune stimulation and suppression during depression: One step closer to a solution? Brain, Behavior, and Immunity, 2016. **54**: p. 15-16.

58. Leonard, B.E., Impact of inflammation on neurotransmitter changes in major depression: An insight into the action of antidepressants. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry, 2014. **48**: p. 261-267.

59. Hullin, R.P., The place of lithium in biological psychiatry, in Lithium in Medical Practice, F.N. Johnson and S. Johnson, Editors. 1978, MTPPress: Lancaster. p. 433.

60. Self-esteem as a moderator of the relationship between scientific interests and the job satisfaction of physicists and engineers. **63**(3): p. 289-294.

61. Hassman, R.A., et al., The influence of lithium chloride on experimental autoimmune thyroid disease. Clinical and experimental immunology, 1985. **61**(1): p. 49-57.

62. Shimizu, M., et al., Lithium associated autoimmune thyroiditis. Journal of clinical pathology, 1997. **50**(2): p. 172-4.

63. Elenkov, I.J. and G.P. Chrousos, Stress System – Organization, Physiology and Immunoregulation. Neuroimmunomodulation, 2007. **13**(5-6): p. 257-267.

64. Stojanovich, L., Stress and autoimmunity. Autoimmunity Reviews, 2010. 9(5): p. A271-A276.

65. Miller, G.E., E. Chen, and K.J. Parker, Psychological stress in childhood and susceptibility to the chronic diseases of aging: Moving toward a model of behavioral and biological mechanisms. Psychological Bulletin, 2011. **137**(6): p. 959.

66. Felitti, V.J., et al., Relationship of Childhood Abuse and Household Dysfunction to Many of the Leading Causes of Death in Adults. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 1998. **14**(4): p. 245-258.

67. Alcalá, H.E., O.S. von Ehrenstein, and A.J. Tomiyama, Adverse Childhood Experiences and Use of Cigarettes and Smokeless Tobacco Products. Journal of Community Health, 2016. **41**(5): p. 969-976.

68. Rehkopf, D.H., et al., Adverse childhood experiences and later life adult obesity and smoking in the United States. Annals of Epidemiology, 2016. **26**(7): p. 488-492.e5.

69. Van Niel, C., et al., Adverse events in children: predictors of adult physical and mental conditions. Journal of developmental and behavioral pediatrics : JDBP, 2014. **35**(8): p. 549-51.

70. Hillis, S.D., et al., Adverse childhood experiences and sexually transmitted diseases in men and women: a retrospective study. Pediatrics, 2000. **106**(1): p. E11.

71. Dube, S.R., et al., Childhood abuse, household dysfunction, and the risk of attempted suicide throughout the life span: findings from the Adverse Childhood Experiences Study. JAMA, 2001. **286**(24): p. 3089-96.

72. Dong, M., et al., Insights into causal pathways for ischemic heart disease: adverse childhood experiences study. Circulation, 2004. **110**(13): p. 1761-6.

73. Schubert, C., Psychoneuroimmunology of the Life Span: Impact of Childhood Stress on Immune Dysregulation and Inflammatory Disease in Later Life. Psychotherapie, Psychosomatik, Medizinische Psychologie, 2013. **64**(5): p. 171-180.

74. Cronholm, P.F., et al., Adverse Childhood Experiences Expanding the Concept of Adversity. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 2015. **49**(3): p. 354-361.

75. Ziemssen, T., Psychoneuroimmunology - psyche and autoimmunity. Current Pharmaceutical Design, 2012. **18**(29): p. 4485-4488.

76. Bick, J., et al., Childhood adversity and DNA methylation of genes involved in the hypothalamus–pituitary–adrenal axis and immune system: Whole-genome and candidate-gene associations. Development and Psychopathology, 2012. **24**(4): p. 1417-1425.

77. Kaufman, J., et al., Effects of early adverse experiences on brain structure and function: clinical implications. Biological Psychiatry, 2000. **48**(8): p. 778-790.

78. Early Childhood Development: adverse experiences and developmental health. , M. Boivin and C. Hertzman, Editors. 2012, Royal Society of Canada/Canadian Academy of Health Sciences Expert Panel (RSC/CAHS)

79. Gerritsen, L., et al., Childhood maltreatment modifies the relationship of depression with hippocampal volume. Psychological Medicine, 2015. **45**(16): p. 3517-3526.

80. Klengel, T. and Elisabeth B. Binder, Epigenetics of Stress-Related Psychiatric Disorders and Gene × Environment Interactions. Neuron, 2015. **86**(6): p. 1343-1357.

81. Labus, J.S., et al., Differences in gut microbial composition correlate with regional brain volumes in irritable bowel syndrome. Microbiome, 2017. **5**(1): p. 49.

82. O'Mahony, S.M., et al., Early Life Stress Alters Behavior, Immunity, and Microbiota in Rats: Implications for Irritable Bowel Syndrome and Psychiatric Illnesses. Biological Psychiatry, 2009. **65**(3): p. 263-267.

83. Bellavance, M.-A. and S. Rivest, The HPA – Immune Axis and the Immunomodulatory Actions of Glucocorticoids in the Brain. Frontiers in Immunology, 2014. **5**: p. 136.

84. Machado, T.D., et al., Early life trauma is associated with decreased peripheral levels of thyroid-hormone T3 in adolescents. International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience, 2015. **47**: p. 304-308.

85. Bagnasco, M., I. Bossert, and G. Pesce, Stress and Autoimmune Thyroid Diseases. Neuroimmunomodulation, 2007. **13**(5-6): p. 309-317.

86. Dhabhar, F.S., Effects of stress on immune function: the good, the bad, and the beautiful. Immunologic Research, 2014. **58**(2-3): p. 193-210.

87. Alexander, F., Psychosomatic medicine. Its Principles and Applications. 1950: W. W. Norton & Company Inc.

88. Dhabhar, F.S., Enhancing versus Suppressive Effects of Stress on Immune Function: Implications for Immunoprotection and Immunopathology. Neuroimmunomodulation, 2009. **16**(5): p. 300-317.

89. Yıldız, M., The relationship between depression, anxiety, personality traits and coping strategies of patients with euthyroid Hashimoto's Thyroiditis. The European Journal of Psychiatry, 2017.

90. Jessop, D.S., L.J. Richards, and M.S. Harbuz, Brief Review Effects of Stress on Inflammatory Autoimmune Disease: Destructive or Protective? Stress, 2009. **7**(4): p. 261-266.

91. Damasio, A., The Feeling of What Happens: Body and Emotion in the Making of Consciousness. 2000, New York: Harcourt Brace.